#### NO. 68772-7-I

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In Re the Dependency of M.H.P., minor child,

### STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Petitioner,

v.

#### P. PARVIN AND L. BRAMLETT,

Respondents.

#### **DSHS OPENING BRIEF**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

TRISHA MCARDLE Senior Counsel, for DSHS WSBA #16371 Office of Attorney General 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-7045

STATE OF WASHIER SOL

ORIGINAL

##

#### I. INTRODUCTION

At issue in this appeal is the informal motion practice chosen by the Office of Public Defense and Superior Court in King County to administer funding for expert witnesses in juvenile dependency, and termination cases. The chosen practice, approved by the court below, is neither necessary nor permitted by the Constitution, court rule or statute. It allows defense attorneys representing parents to obtain orders to seal and appoint experts before a criminal judge through a secret proceeding where: (a) the public is excluded; (b) the other parties are not notified and are also excluded; (c) the court does not make the individualized findings required for an order to seal; and (d) the court authorizes public funding for defense experts even though the discovery cutoff date and the deadline to disclose experts has long since passed.

As a consequence, the state and child's court appointed special advocate ("CASA") are blindsided on the eve of trial with defense experts that neither party has had the opportunity or time to depose, or to explore the basis of their opinions, or to prepare for cross-examination, or even reevaluate the case in light of the expert's opinion. King County's practice, which is not used by other counties in our state, fosters a system in which public funds are authorized and wasted without accountability. It is a practice that jeopardizes the trial court's ability to make a well-

informed decision about the child and threatens the safety of dependent children in our state.

#### II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The court below erred in denying the Department's motion to vacate orders to seal and approve litigation expenses where the orders were obtained *ex parte* in violation of the court rules, the rules of professional conduct, and established law, and the court's refusal to vacate orders that were entered after the discovery cutoff and deadline for disclosing witnesses results in an ongoing defense practice that prejudices the other parties and places children at risk of an ill-informed decision by the trial court.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns four year old M.H.P. His parents are Leslie Bramlett and Paul Parvin. When M.H.P. was less than two years old the court found him dependent as defined by RCW 13.34.030(6)(c) based on the parents' mental illness, substance abuse, history of violence, and resulting neglect of the child. M.H.P. was removed from his parents in June of 2010 and despite multiple services being provided to the parents, M.H.P. could never safely return to their care. CP 610-615, Supp CP \_\_\_\_\_ (Sub. No. 202).

On August 31, 2011, the Department filed a petition for termination of parental rights. CP 1-10. The court issued a case schedule establishing a discovery cutoff date in December for all parties, and the Department served a discovery demand requesting disclosure of all defense witnesses. CP 11-4, 15-16. The court set December 5, 2011 as the deadline for the exchange of witness lists. CP 11-14.

Long after the court-imposed deadline for the parties to identify witnesses and complete discovery, defense counsel for the parents brought multiple *ex parte* motions to authorize public funding for expert defense services along with *ex parte* motions to seal. CP 59- 105, 180- 194. The first was brought January 11, 2012, more than one month after the discovery cutoff and witness disclosure deadline had passed, when counsel for the mother sought and obtained an *ex parte* order for expert services and an *ex parte* order to seal. CP 59- 71, The second was brought on February 2, 2012, two months after the discovery cutoff and witness disclosure deadline had passed, when counsel for the father brought an *ex parte* motion to appoint a defense expert and his proposed order requested that payment for that expert be directed to DSHS. CP 72-105. The third request was brought on March 10, 2012, a full three months after the discovery cutoff and witness

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Appendix 1 for copies of pleadings related to these motions, which the Department has been able to access. Many pleadings remain sealed so the Department has no access to CP 62- 105, 137, 138, 139, 183-184, 187-194, and 472-477 to know exactly what was requested or ordered.

disclosure deadline, when counsel for the mother again sought and obtained an additional *ex parte* order for expert services along with an *ex parte* order to seal. CP 180-194. Neither the Department nor the child's CASA were provided notice of these motions or given the opportunity to be heard so that they could plan for the possibility of additional discovery; and defense counsel never advised the Department or CASA of the possibility of additional defense witnesses, or requested that the court extend the discovery deadline or their deadline to disclose witnesses. *Id*.

In fact, these *ex parte* orders were discovered inadvertently by the CASA when reviewing the legal file after the parents made a joint motion to continue the trial date. CP 312-339. On March 15, 2012, the Office of the Attorney General challenged entry of these *ex parte* orders and challenged the same defense practice in four other cases involving dependency and termination of parental rights. CP 195-286. A motion to vacate the *ex parte* orders was brought before the Honorable Ronald Kessler, a criminal judge, who was the judge before whom all of the defense motions were brought.<sup>2</sup> *Id*. The state also sought additional relief, including a request for the identification of other cases in which this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> King County Local General Rule 15(c)(1) requires all motions related to sealing court documents in civil cases to be brought before the assigned judge, or if there is no assigned judge then to the Chief Civil Judge, so it remains unclear why all of these motions were brought before Judge Kessler, a criminal judge having no responsibility for juvenile dependency or termination cases. KCLGR 15(c).

practice had occurred so that appropriate relief could be sought. *Id.*Among other concerns, the state noted its concern that this practice resulted in surprise witnesses being disclosed at the last minute, leaving the state and CASA no time to conduct meaningful discovery before trial. *Id.* 

Judge Kessler denied the state's motion on April 10, 2012, in a memorandum decision and later denied the state's request for clarification and for entry of an order containing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. CP 438-443, 496-497. *See* copies of the court's rulings attached as Appendix 2. The state immediately appealed both orders, but this court subsequently determined that appellate review could only be obtained by discretionary review, and it stayed review in the other four cases pending resolution of this appeal. CP 484-493.

Meanwhile, the trial concerning M.H.P., which was originally set for January 17, 2012, was continued multiple times at the request of one or both parents, or by agreed order, and in April of 2012, the termination petition was substituted with a guardianship petition. CP 11-14, 47-57, 113-179, 445-446, 479-483, CP 508. The last order entered August 3, 2012, continued the trial to August 27, 2012 at mother's request to give her attorney additional time to prepare, but the court specifically directed that there would be <u>no</u> further continuances. CP 508. Throughout all of

the continuances and the substitution of the termination petition for a guardianship petition, the court never modified the discovery deadlines or eliminated the obligation to timely disclose defense witnesses. *Id.*, CP 112, 178-179, 445-446, 483.

Additionally, after Judge Kessler upheld the defense practice of obtaining *ex parte* orders to seal and approve litigation expenses, the mother's counsel sought additional *ex parte* orders to seal and appoint defense experts in May of 2012, and these motions appear to have been granted by the court even though they were brought five months after the court-imposed discovery cutoff date.<sup>3</sup> CP 464- 477. Neither the Department nor the child's CASA were provided notice of these motions.

On August 14, 2012, just two weeks before trial, mother's counsel served the state with a witness list that, for the first time, identified Dr. Makiko Guji, Psy.D., as an expert witness for the mother. CP 509-511. Defense counsel claimed that Dr. Guji had treated the mother for the past year and would testify that she has made good progress in mental health treatment and that her medications controlled her symptoms. *Id.* No records, reports, evaluations, qualifications or other information verifying the expected testimony by Dr. Guji was provided to the state, nor was there time to seek any of this information before trial. CP 518-560. Then,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As indicated *supra* at 3, many pleadings were sealed so the Department has no access to know exactly what was requested or ordered.

on Friday, August 24, 2012, just one business day before trial was supposed to start, a second surprise defense expert was identified when counsel for the mother sent the state an evaluation of the mother that had been completed by Dr. Carmela Washington-Harvey, Ph.D. CP 515-517. This was the first the state learned that Dr. Washington-Harvey had evaluated the mother and would be called as an expert witness. At no point previously had she been identified by defense, nor was she listed on the August 14, 2012 witness list. CP 509-511. Thus, both Dr. Guji and Dr. Washington-Harvey were surprise witnesses not disclosed until the eve of trial, long after the discovery cutoff date, and the deadline for disclosing witnesses had passed.

The state filed a motion to exclude their testimony at trial, and that motion was argued the first day of trial before the Honorable James Doerty. CP 518-560. The CASA joined in the state's motion, and Judge Doerty, mindful of this pending appeal and the implications that denying the state's motion might have on the practice of secretly obtaining defense experts, granted the motion and excluded the defense witnesses from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The assigned Assistant Attorney General reviewed the legal file and discovered that counsel for the mother had filed an additional witness list on August 16, 2012 that listed Dr. Washington-Harvey but it was never served on the state, so the first the state learned of her was August 24, 2012, the day before trial when her evaluation was provided. CP 515-517, 518-560.

testifying.<sup>5</sup> RP 27-35, Supp CP \_\_\_(Sub. No. 204). *See* Appendix 3 for a copy of the Order Excluding Defense Witnesses.

On April 1, 2013, Commissioner Neel granted the Department's Motion for Discretionary Review. The remaining cases in which the Department has challenged King County's practice of appointing defense experts are stayed pending resolution of this case.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

- A. The Constitution, Established Case Law And General Rules Of The Court Require Court Proceedings To Be Open And That All Parties Be Given Notice Of Motions To Seal Court Records.
  - 1. The Proceedings Below Were Closed To The Public And To The Other Parties.

Washington's Constitution mandates that "[j]ustice in all cases shall be administered openly, and without unnecessary delay." Const. art. I § 10. This provision is mandatory. *State v. Duckett*, 141 Wn. App. 797, 804, 173 P.3d 948 (2007) (citation omitted). It assures fair trials and fosters "understanding and trust in the judicial system" by giving "judges the check of public scrutiny." *Id.* at 803 (citing *State v. Brightman*, 155

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Judge Doerty expressed his support of Judge Kessler's ruling in this case, and acknowledged the practice of King County's defense agencies to name the individual attorney as attorney of record rather than the agency so as to insulate the agency from responsibility for actions taken on the case. He told defense that he worried they would lose the ability to seek litigation defense experts in the manner they had done so previously if they did not disclose their witnesses timely. He directed a bright line rule "[I]n this case, at least" "so Ms. Thorp and Ms. McArdle can't say to the Court of Appeals "Look what happened." RP 27-33, 33-34.

Wn.2d 506, 514, 122 P.3d 150 (2005). Because our courts are presumptively open, the party seeking to restrict access bears the burden of justifying an infringement on the public's right of access. *Nebraska Press Ass'n v. Stuart*, 427 U.S. 539. 558-59, 569-70 (1976). Restrictions on access are to be granted only in rare circumstances. *State v. Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d 254, 258, 906 P.2d 325 (1995) ("[P]rotection of this basic constitutional right clearly calls for a trial court to resist a closure motion except under the most unusual circumstances.").

In addition to the constitutional requirement that civil judicial proceedings be conducted in open court, the legislature has mandated that proceedings involving dependent children not be conducted in secrecy. Specifically, RCW 13.34.115 requires that all hearings under chapter 13.34 RCW shall be public. RCW 13.34.115(1); *In re the Dependency of J.A.F.*, 168 Wn. App. 653, 278 P.3d 673 (2012)(finding it constitutional error for the court to have closed a termination proceeding for the testimony of one witness).

In this case, orders authorizing the expenditure of public funds and approving defense experts were entered not only through secret proceedings to which the public was not permitted, but through secret procedures in which even the other *parties* to the case were denied notice

and an opportunity to be heard. No legal justification exists for such secrecy.

It is well-established that GR 15 governs the sealing of juvenile dependency and termination court records. *In re the Dependency of J.B.S.*, 122 Wn.2d 131, 856 P.2d 694 (1993); *In re the Dependency of J.A.F.*, 168 Wn. App. 653, 278 P.3d 673 (2012); *In re the Dependency of G.A.R.* 137 Wn. App. 1, 150 P.3d 643 (2007).

#### GR 15(c) provides as follows:

(1) In a civil case, the court or any party may request a hearing to seal or redact the court records. In a criminal case or juvenile proceeding, the court, any party, or any interested person may request a hearing to seal or redact the court records. Reasonable notice of a hearing to seal must be given to all parties in the case. In a criminal case, reasonable notice of a hearing to seal or redact must also be given to the victim, if ascertainable, and the person or agency having probationary, custodial, community placement, or community supervision over the affected adult or juvenile. No such notice is required for motions to seal documents entered pursuant to CrR 3.1(f) or CrRLJ 3.1(f).

#### GR15(c)(1)(emphasis added)

It is equally well-established that to obtain an order sealing court files, the moving party has the burden of establishing that "compelling circumstances" justify such an order. Before the court approves sealing an order, it must first weigh the five factors established by *Allied Daily Newspapers*, 121 Wn.2d 205, 848 P.2d 1258(1993) and *Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa*, 97 Wn.2d 30, 640 P.2d 716 (1982), and it must enter written

findings establishing that sealing or redacting is justified by identified, compelling privacy or safety concerns which outweigh the public interest. GR 15(c)(2), State v. Waldon, 148 Wn. App. 952, 202 P.3d 325 (2009).

The Washington Supreme Court made the requirement of notice for motions to seal abundantly clear in *Rufer v. Abbott Labs.*, 154 Wn.2d 530, 114 P.3d 1182 (2005), and in *Dreiling v. Jain*, 151 Wn.2d 900, 93 P.3d 861 (2004). In these cases, the Court clarified that documents in a court file may be sealed only if: (1) the proponent of sealing shows a need for sealing; (2) opponents of sealing are given an opportunity to object; (3) sealing is the least restrictive means available to protect the interests at stake and will be effective; (4) the court weighs the competing interests, considers alternative methods, and makes findings; and (5) the order is no broader in application or duration than necessary. *Rufer*, 154 Wn. 2d at 543-44 & n. 7 (citing *Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa*) (emphasis added); see also In re Marriage of R.E., 144 Wn. App. 393, 399-400 (2008) (discussing how GR 15 was significantly amended in 2006, in the wake of *Rufer* and *Dreiling*).

None of these requirements were met in this case where multiple motions to seal were made by the parents' attorneys without notice to any other party and without the legally required findings. In fact, the remarkable similarity of the orders entered suggests that public defense used a canned form with boilerplate findings and the court never made the required

individualized inquiry. *See* Appendix 1, and CP 62- 105, 137, 138, 139, 183-184, 187-194, and 472-477. This plainly violates GR 15 and numerous appellate court decisions discussed above. And, where the original orders to seal never complied with constitutional and rule-based mandates, the orders should be presumed void.

Even if some orders contained the necessary findings, since both the state and the CASA were not given notice of the hearing and the opportunity to object, neither could challenge the defense attorney's self-serving assertion that "compelling circumstances" exist. The legal standard for sealing court records is a question of law which the court reviews *de novo*. *Rufer v. Abbott Laboratories*, 154 Wn.2d 530, 540 114 P.3d 1182 (2005); *In re the Dependency of J.A.F.*, 168 Wn. App. 653, 278 P.3d 673 (2012).

The record in this appeal demonstrates that the practice of secretly going before judges to obtain orders approving publicly funded experts, and then sealing those records without notice is an ongoing practice in King County. See Declaration of Assistant Attorney General Joel Delman attached to Motion for Discretionary Review as Appendix 2. Such motions are routinely brought after the discovery cutoff date and have been presented in a variety of contexts including: when the case is being litigated before another judge who has retained the case and has independently appointed defense experts, and they have even been brought after the litigation has

concluded and parental rights have been terminated. In one case, a motion for litigation expenses was brought a year after the litigation was concluded. In some cases, these *ex parte* orders have formed the basis for defense motions to continue the trial even where another judicial officer has ruled that any further continuances would be detrimental to the child. The court has also granted *ex parte* orders similar to one presented here and ordered the Department to pay the cost of the defense expert, even though the cost of indigent defense is by law a county expense. *In re J.D.*, 112 Wn. 2d 164, 769 P. 2d 291 (1989). The problems demonstrated by this case are thus not isolated events but reflect a widespread practice affecting many cases, and the problems have not been eliminated since the Department raised its concern about the practice one year ago.

# 2. The Court Erred By Dispensing With The Notice Requirement As "Meaningless."

In upholding the defense practice of not giving notice of the motions to seal to the other parties, Judge Kessler acknowledged that the notice provision of GR 15(c) "arguably" applies, but dispensed with the requirement by summarily concluding that notice would be "meaningless" because, according to Judge Kessler, the notice could only inform the parties that the underlying motion sought to be sealed concerned "services for an indigent parent other than counsel." CP 442. The state disagrees

that it is not entitled to notice of all motions brought in a case in which it is a party, but assuming for the sake of argument that the underlying motion for defense experts could be brought *ex parte*, notice of the motion to seal may not.

Notice of the motions to seal would give the state and the CASA the opportunity to provide complete information to the court, such as the relevant discovery deadlines and pending trial dates, or it could inform the court that the litigation has been concluded and parental rights terminated. Since the records in this case are sealed, it is unclear what defense told the court, but since *every* motion for litigation experts was approved *after* the discovery cutoff, it must be presumed that Judge Kessler was not apprised of the relevant discovery deadlines or the trial schedule. Notice of the motions to seal might well have prevented the surprise developments in this case, which ultimately squandered public funds and provided no benefit to the parents.

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