# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES, Petitioner, v. P. PARVIN AND L. BRAMLETT, Respondents. ON REVIEW FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Suzanne Lee Elliott

Attorney for Respondents 1300 Hoge Building 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-0291

#

### A. INTRODUCTION

This case would have progressed differently if the parents, Parvin and Bramlett,¹ were not poor. Even though the case had been set for trial, the parents could have used their own money to hire experts on January 11, 2012, February 2, 2012, March 10, 2012, and May, 2012. The Department would not have been entitled to notice that the parents had privately retained these experts. DSHS would not have had the right to come to court and argue that the parents were squandering their money and should be prohibited from doing so. DSHS would not have argued that because the parents spent their own money, they were placing the safety of their children in jeopardy. DSHS would not have argued that it was entitled to notice of strategic decisions made by the parents after consultation with counsel.

But because the parents are poor and are required to file a motion to ask the court for funds to hire experts, DSHS believes that it is entitled to notice of the parents' trial preparations and strategic decisions and an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Because the parents have different last names, for clarity's sake this brief will refer to them as "the parents."

opportunity to object to these decisions, in particular, the decision to seek expert opinions.

DSHS sought to capitalize on the fact that the parents are poor and asked the King County Superior Court to give DSHS an advantage it would not be entitled to in litigation against non-indigent parents. Judge Kessler properly refused to grant the Department's request. This Court should affirm Judge Kessler.

# B. INDIGENT PARENTS IN WASHINGTON HAVE A RIGHT TO THE APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL AT PUBLIC EXPENSE

It is well settled in Washington that the right to counsel attaches to indigent parents in termination proceedings by way of RCW 13.34.090(2). *In re Dependency of Grove*, 127 Wn.2d 221, 232, 897 P.2d 1252 (1995). This right derives from the due process guaranties of article I, § 3 of the Washington Constitution as well as the Fourteenth Amendment. *In re Welfare of Luscier*, 84 Wn.2d 135, 138, 524 P.2d 906 (1974). The right to the custody, control, and companionship of one's children is a fundamental right that the State may not abridge without the complete protection of due process. *Id.* at 136-37. "There can be no doubt that the full panoply of due process safeguards applies to deprivation hearings." *Id.* at 137; *In re Welfare of Myricks*, 85 Wn.2d 252, 254-55, 533 P.2d 841 (1975).

There is also a statutory right to the appointment of counsel:

At all stages of a proceeding in which a child is alleged to be dependent, the child's parent, guardian, or legal custodian has the right to be represented by counsel, and if indigent, to have counsel appointed for him or her by the court. Unless waived in court, counsel shall be provided to the child's parent, guardian, or legal custodian, if such person (a) has appeared in the proceeding or requested the court to appoint counsel and (b) is financially unable to obtain counsel because of indigency.

RCW 13.34.090(2).

٠.

By statute also—not just in criminal proceedings, but in every case in which the right to counsel attaches—legal representation means effective representation, by definition.

The legislature finds that effective legal representation must be provided for indigent persons and persons who are indigent and able to contribute, consistent with the constitutional requirements of fairness, equal protection, and due process in all cases where the right to counsel attaches.

RCW 10.101.005. See In re Welfare of J.M., 130 Wn. App. 912, 922, 125 P.3d 245, 250 (2005).

C. THE RIGHT TO COUNSEL IS MEANINGLESS IF COUNSEL IS UNABLE TO OBTAIN THE SERVICES OF AN EXPERT AT PUBLIC EXPENSE

Our Supreme Court has also recognized, in the context of criminal cases, that "[t]he Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel includes expert assistance necessary to an adequate defense." *State v*.

Punsalan, 156 Wn.2d 875, 878, 133 P.3d 934 (2006), citing Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 76, 83, 105 S.Ct. 1087, 84 L.Ed.2d 53 (1985) (due process guarantees the defendant access to competent experts "who will conduct an appropriate examination and assist in evaluation, preparation, and presentation of the defense").

DSHS does not quarrel with the notion that the right to the appointment of counsel in parental rights cases includes the right to have necessary experts appointed as well. DSHS does, however, argue that indigent parents and their lawyers are "squandering" public funds by making requests for experts. This argument will be address more fully below.

# D. INDIGENT PARENTS HAVE THE RIGHT TO PREPARE THEIR DEFENSE WITHOUT THE INTERFERENCE BY DSHS

The United States Supreme Court has observed "it is essential that a lawyer work with a certain degree of privacy, free from unnecessary intrusion by opposing parties and their counsel." *Hickman v. Taylor*, 329 U.S. 495, 510, 67 S.Ct. 385, 91 L.Ed. 451 (1947). *See also United States v. Abreu*, 202 F.3d 386 (1st Cir. 2000) (federal law provides for ex parte proceedings when appointed counsel requests funding for experts "so as to 'prevent[] the possibility that an open hearing may cause a defendant to reveal his defense" (citation omitted)); *Williams v. Texas*, 958 S.W.2d

186, 193 (Tex. Crim. App. 1997) (A defendant should not be "forced to choose between either forgoing the appointment of an expert or disclosing to the State in some detail his defensive theories or theories about weaknesses in the State's case").

Nothing in the civil rules, however, describes how a lawyer for an indigent parent in parental rights litigation should request funding for expert services necessary to the representation. DSHS argues that indigent parents must disclose to DSHS any request they make for the appointment of experts necessary to their defense. DSHS also argues that it has a right to be heard on such a request. But Judge Kessler and Judge Doerty correctly determined that, in the absence of any other relevant rules or caselaw, the Court should utilize the procedures in place for the category of cases most analogous – criminal prosecutions.

In criminal cases, CrR 3.1(f) incorporates the constitutional right of an indigent defendant to the assistance of expert witnesses and provides a procedure for seeking the rule provides that:

- (1) A lawyer for a defendant who is financially unable to obtain investigative, expert, or other services necessary to an adequate defense in the case may request them by a motion to the court.
- (2) Upon finding the services are necessary and that the defendant is financially unable to obtain them, the court, or a person or agency to whom the administration of the program may have been delegated by local court rule, shall

authorize the services. The motion may be made ex parte, and, upon a showing of good cause, the moving papers may be ordered sealed by the court, and shall remain sealed until further order of the court. The court, in the interest of justice and on a finding that timely procurement of necessary services could not await prior authorization, shall ratify such services after they have been obtained.

(3) Reasonable compensation for the services shall be determined and payment directed to the organization or person who rendered them upon the filing of a claim for compensation supported by affidavit specifying the time expended and the services and expenses incurred on behalf of the defendant, and the compensation received in the same case or for the same services from any other source.

Under GR 15(c)(1), motions made under CrR 3.1(f) may be made ex parte without notice to any other party.

DSHS argues that the trial court erred in applying the procedures in GR 15(c)(1) and CrR 3.1(f) to parental rights cases because 1) the state constitution requires that such requests be administered openly, 2) children are involved, 3) public funds are being wasted and 4) the orderly administration of justice is being adversely effected.

1. Judge Kessler's Decision Does Not Violate the State Constitution

It is true that the state constitution generally mandates open proceedings. But our Supreme Court has held that the public's right of access to the records of court proceedings may be limited to protect other significant and fundamental constitutional rights, such as a defendant's

right to a fair trial. State v. McEnroe, 174 Wn.2d 795, 279 P.3d 861 (2012); State v. Mendez, 157 Wn. App. 565, 585, 238 P.3d 517, 526 (2010), review granted, cause remanded, 172 Wn.2d 1004, 257 P.3d 1113 (2011). GR 15(c)(1) and CrR 3.1(f) have codified the balance for cases involving indigent criminal defendants who are entitled to the appointment of counsel at public expense. DSHS does not provide any persuasive argument why the balance between the open administration of justice and the indigent parents' constitutional rights would be different than the balance between the open administration of justice and the rights of indigent criminal defendants. The two situations are indistinguishable. In both cases, the State is threatening to deprive the indigent person of a fundamental constitutional right. In both situations, the indigent person is entitled to counsel and the ancillary services necessary to mount a defense to the State's actions. In both situations, the indigent person is entitled to prepare his or her defense without the unjustified interference of the State.

In light of these nearly identical situations, Judge Kessler correctly applied the GR 15(c)(1) and CrR 3.1(f) to the request for expert services in parental rights cases. Judge Kessler correctly concluded that the indigent parents' right to a fair trial would be jeopardized and DSHS would be given an unfair tactical advantage if indigent parents had to disclose their consulting expert's name and information to their adversaries. And, he

correctly concluded that indigent parents' right to counsel would be significantly diminished from that of financially secure parents who could afford to hire counsel and experts far from the prying eyes of DSHS.

As the Court of Appeals stated in *Mendez*, identifying the subject matter of an attorney/client conversation would present a privilege claim.

Id. It is hard to imagine how a request for expert services would not reveal confidential attorney/client communications. For example, in this case, defense counsel sought funds for psychiatric services. Thus, defense counsel would have consulted with the parent and discussed the parent's mental health before seeking funding for the evaluator.

Moreover, Judge Kessler correctly concluded that for non-indigent parents, there is never a need to consider the application of Const. art. 1, § 10. That is because in non-indigent cases, the parents never have to bring a motion in order to hire the expert with whom they wish to consult.

There is no court proceeding at all. They simply sign a retainer with the expert and proceed. In those cases the parents' lawyers never have to choose between hiring experts without having to reveal attorney/client communications and the attorney's protected thought processes or strategy to DSHS. These joint decisions between counsel and the parents are protected work product under CR 26(b)(5)(B). And, while it is true that sometimes consulting experts become testifying experts, in the pre-trial

preparation phase there is a distinct difference.<sup>2</sup> Consulting experts frequently are employed to assist defense counsel in the investigation of DSHS's case in addition to the exploration of available defenses. But, on many occasions, the consulting expert is never called to testify. DSHS is not entitled to discover the identities of nonwitness experts in any case, indigent or non-indigent. *See Detwiler v. Gall, Landau & Young Const. Co.*, 42 Wn. App. 567, 572, 712 P.2d 316 (1986).

2. Judge Kessler's Ruling Does Not Does Not Jeopardize the Right of the Children Involved in these Proceedings

DSHS does not fully explain why Judge Kessler's ruling jeopardizes the children involved by delaying the trial court proceedings.<sup>3</sup> CrR 3.1 has worked perfectly well in criminal cases. In criminal cases, the victims, like the children in dependency cases, are entitled to a speedy resolution. In fact, the application GR 15(c)(1)'s procedure for ex parte requests for funding for ancillary services to parental rights cases actually streamlines the process. DSHS appears to seek notice of the parent's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Nowhere in its brief does DSHS make a distinction between consulting experts and testifying experts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> DSHS also argues that granting ex parte motions for the appointment of expert services to the parents "places children at risk of an ill-informed decision by the trial court." Petitioner's Brief at 2. It is unclear how providing funds to parents so that they can fully and fairly rebut DSHS's allegations would lead to an "ill-informed" decision. In fact, the risk of ill-informed decisions would only be increased if one party could *prevent* the other from developing relevant expert opinions. The more relevant information provided to the judge, the more "informed" his or her decision will be.

requests so that it can object and litigate the propriety of the expert services being requested and the amount that will be spent. Providing DSHS with the unjustified opportunity to interfere with funding for consulting as well as testifying experts will result in expensive, protracted pretrial litigation (and perhaps appellate proceedings) that will actually delay final resolution of the case. Stated another way, it is in everyone's best interest to insure that indigent parents have efficient access to the funds necessary to prepare their case for trial.

Moreover, not every case results in the termination of parental rights. It is in the children's best interests to have the trial court make fully informed decisions and to be returned to their parents if the parents are fit. Sometimes the only way for indigent parents to make their case is to hire experts. Thus, justice requires that indigent parents have efficient access to proper funding to prove that they are fit and that the children can be returned to them.

3. Judge Kessler's Decision Does Not Permit the Parents to Delay Trials, Squander Public Funds or Otherwise Violate the Rules for the Orderly Administration of Justice

As explained above, the application of GR 15(c)(1)'s procedure for ex parte requests for funding for ancillary services to parental rights cases actually streamlines procedures for indigent parents. When one cuts through the hyperbole, it appears that DSHS's real complaint is with tardy

disclosure of *testifying* expert witnesses. But nothing in Judge Kessler's ruling permits any party, rich or poor, to ignore the case schedule. The question of whether an expert should be appointed ex parte is completely separate from the question of whether defense counsel must comply with the civil rules for discovery and the applicable case schedule. Although DSHS seems to argue that the request for expert services is some sort of carefully orchestrated "bushwack" in indigent cases, it offers no proof of this allegation. Certainly, it is frustrating to have litigation delayed. But it appears from the record in this case that many of the delays were occasioned by changes in counsel.

Moreover, as evidenced by this case, defense counsel runs a grave risk if he or she does not request expert services early enough in the representation to comply with the case schedule and disclosure deadlines. Here, the experts were appointed but because they were disclosed too late, the trial court prohibited the defense from calling them. This demonstrates that the trial courts of this State have the means to prevent delay under the existing rules without compromising the indigent parent's ability to prepare their defense unhindered by interference by the opposing party.

DSHS suggests that the problem of delay occurs only with indigent parents. The Department argues that: "Although the affluent parent could theoretically hire and pay for an expert after the discovery cutoff, they are not likely to do because of the financial loss they would having that expert excluded at trial." DSHS Opening brief at 26. First, respondents simply disagree. Most parents – rich or poor – would go to great lengths and spend all of their available resources to regain custody of their own children. Keeping one's family intact is overwhelmingly an emotional, not financial decision. The notion that parents first look at their budget and then decide whether or not to fight for the return of their children is not supported by fact or logic. Assessments by DSHS – an adversarial party – about what parents might do or spend in order to regain custody of their children is highly suspect and self-serving.

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